

1 Title: **Effects of education methods on self-efficacy of smoking cessation counseling**
2 **among medical students**

3

4 Running title: **Smoking cessation counseling**

5

6 Authors: Ara Cho,¹ Jeongyu Lee,¹ YunJin Kim,¹ Byung Mann Cho,² Sang Yeoup Lee,^{3,4,*}

7 Eunhee Kong,⁵ Minjeong Kim,⁶ Jinseung Kim,⁷ Dong Sik Jung,⁸ Seongho Han⁹

8

9 Affiliations of authors:

10 ¹Department of Family Medicine, ²Department of Preventive & Occupational Medicine, and

11 ³Department of Medical Education, Pusan National University School of Medicine, Yangsan,

12 South Korea

13 ⁴Department of Family Medicine and Research Institute of Convergence of Biomedical

14 Science and Technology, Pusan National University Yangsan Hospital, Yangsan, South

15 Korea

16 ⁵Department of Family Education and ⁶Department of Medical Education, Kosin University

17 College of Medicine, Busan, South Korea

18 ⁷Department of Family Medicine, Inje University College of Medicine, Busan, South Korea

19 ⁸Department of Infective Medicine and ⁹Department of Family Medicine, Dong-A University

20 College of Medicine, Busan, South Korea

21

22

23

24

25

Deleted: R

Deleted: G

Deleted:

Deleted: J

Deleted: -

Deleted: H

Deleted: Busan Paik Hospital,

1 ORCID no.

2 Jeong Gyu Lee <http://orcid.org/0000-0001-7160-0714>

3 Yun Jin Kim <http://orcid.org/0000-0002-0204-3253>

4 Byung Mann Cho <http://orcid.org/0000-0001-6666-1651>

5 Min Jeong Kim <http://orcid.org/0000-0002-1340-1060>

6 Dong Sik Jung <http://orcid.org/0000-0003-3881-9073>

7 Seung-Ho Han <http://orcid.org/0000-0002-1651-7069>

8

9 Number of Tables: ~~4~~

Deleted: 5

10 Number of Figures: 1

11 Word count: ~~4,429~~

Deleted: 4,070

12

13 Corresponding author: Sang Yeoup Lee, MD

14 Family Medicine Clinic, Pusan National University Yangsan Hospital, Yangsan 50612, South

15 Korea

16 Tel: 82-55-360-2860, Fax: 82-51-510-8125, E-mail: saylee@pnu.edu

17 ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-3585-9910

18

19 Keywords: Counseling, Education methods, Medical students, Self-efficacy, Smoking

20 cessation

21

22

23

1 **Abstract**

2 **Background.** Medical students need to receive training in providing smoking cessation
3 counseling to provide effective smoking cessation interventions to smokers when they
4 become doctors. This study examined the smoking cessation education curricula and factors
5 affecting counseling self-efficacy (CSE) in smoking cessation treatment among medical
6 students.

7 **Methods.** In a multicenter online cross-sectional study, we obtained demographic
8 information, personal history of tobacco use, and intention to quit smoking, exposure to
9 secondhand smoke in the school premises during the past week, the experience of learning
10 about tobacco in each medical school, tobacco-related medical knowledge, and self-efficacy
11 in smoking cessation counseling on medical students of four Korean medical schools.

12 Multivariable logistic regression was applied to select significant independent predictors of
13 high self-efficacy.

14 **Results.** Among 1,416 medical students eligible, 313 (22.1%) students completed a self-
15 administered questionnaire. Only 20.3% of the students reported high CSE on smoking
16 cessation. The factors affecting high CSE were scores of ≥ 60 on tobacco-related medical
17 knowledge, smoking experience, and blended learning ($p = 0.014$, 0.005 , and 0.015 ,
18 respectively).

19 **Conclusion.** This study shows that high scores in tobacco-related medical knowledge and
20 blended learning are correlated with high CSE for smoking cessation counseling.

Deleted:

Deleted: positive

Deleted: positive

Deleted: positive

INTRODUCTION

Tobacco smoking ~~still~~ ranks among the most common causes of preventable deaths and morbidity world-wide that medical students will encounter in their future lives as physicians (*GBD 2015 Risk Factors Collaborato, 2016*). According to a Cochrane analysis, physician counselling is among the most cost-effective clinical interventions for smoking cessation. It plays an important role in facilitating smokers' attempts to quit, and consequently, in lowering smoking rates (*Stead et al., 2013; Zwar, Mendelsohn, & Richmond, 2014*). The U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommends that based on patients' willingness to quit smoking, physicians should provide smoking cessation counselling at each visit to every patient who uses tobacco (*U.S. Preventive Services Task Force, 2009; Fiore & Baker, 2011*). Providing adequate education is a priority for encouraging doctors to set up smoking cessation counseling practices and in raising their confidence in tobacco cessation interventions (*Victor, et al., 2010*). However, after becoming a doctor there have been reports of poor participation in practical training education on tobacco cessation counseling (*Caplan, Stout, & Blumenthal, 2011; Champassak et al., 2014; Herold et al., 2016*). It is therefore necessary for medical schools to provide proper smoking cessation education to medical students, the doctors of the future, but such education has been found to be insufficient according to surveys conducted by medical schools in most countries such as Canada (*Loranger Simms, & Pipe, 2018*), the United States (*Warren et al., 2011*), the United Kingdom (*Raupach et al., 2015*), Germany (*Strobel et al., 2012*), and Italy (*Grassi et al., 2012*).

~~It was pointed out that~~ the traditional lecture-based teaching method was insufficient for training medical professionals in providing counseling and supporting successful smoking cessation (*Park, Park, & Hwang, 2019*). Recently, as an alternative, various new educational methods were proposed to improve the self-efficacy of medical students as counselors (*Stolz*

Deleted: ¶

Commented [JMS1]: Off, is either ranks [insert rank] among the most coming causes of...or Tobacco smoking is one of most common causes...

Formatted: Strikethrough

Commented [JMS2]: One of the most

Commented [JMS3]: After becoming a doctor? This doesn't add much. Maybe start with Doctors... or use suggestion below.

Commented [JMS4]: Once they graduate medical school, doctors show poor...

Commented [JMS5]: ??????

Commented [JMS6]: Why new paragraph, same topic

Formatted: Strikethrough

Formatted: Strikethrough

Deleted: Richmond et al., 2009

Deleted: Richmond et al., 2009;

et al., 2012; Herold et al., 2016; Ockene et al., 2016). Previous studies have found that the self-assessment score for smoking cessation counseling as well as the objective structured clinical examination score was higher in medical students who received smoking cessation training through role playing and interaction with real patient methods (Stolz et al., 2012) or a multimodal and interactive teaching module on smoking cessation, including online learning material, seminars, and practical skills training than students who only received lectures (Herold et al., 2016). Self-efficacy is more than just a simple belief in one's ability to succeed in specific situations or accomplish tasks. It plays an important role in effective patient care by lowering physicians' anxiety about their behavior's success or failure. It is also a useful indicator that improves physicians' performance and patient outcomes by enabling them to actually perform behaviors or attain specific outcomes successfully (Grassi et al., 2012; Schiele et al., 2014). To the best of our knowledge, no research has been conducted in Korea on how much smoking cessation education was being implemented, its effectiveness, and the medical students' degree of self-efficacy in smoking cessation treatment. In this regard, the aim of this study was to scrutinize the smoking cessation education curricula, students' smoking behaviors, medical knowledge related to tobacco, and counseling self-efficacy (CSE) in smoking cessation counseling in Korean medical schools. We also analyzed factors affecting their CSE in smoking cessation treatment.

METHODOLOGY

Study design and subjects

This multi-center, cross-sectional survey was conducted in four medical schools (A-D) located in Busan, an urban city of South Korea, by administering an online questionnaire to 1,416 students between December 2016 to January 2017. Korea's medical school degree course currently consists of the first two years of the pre-medical phase and then the pre-

1 clerkship or pre-clinical phase (Year 1 & 2) and the clerkship or clinical phase (Year 3 & 4).

2 A week prior to the survey, notices of the survey were posted, and text messages with a link

3 to the online survey were sent to the students, who were given the option of completing the

4 entire questionnaire via internet. At the beginning of the online survey, we provided the

5 following information: participation is voluntary, the responses will be kept confidential and

6 anonymous, students must not fear that their non-participation in this study may jeopardize

7 their grade or progress in any way. Electronic informed consent was obtained by submitting

8 the completed questionnaire from each participant prior to commencement of the

9 questionnaire. A total of 313 students responded to the questionnaire. In addition,

10 coordinators from each medical school were asked to provide information on smoking

11 cessation education (e.g., the existence of a tobacco curriculum, during which year it was

12 taught, tobacco content in the curriculum, and format of teaching methods). Only objective

13 data were received from each school's coordinator, not personal opinions that could cause

14 potential bias. In Korea, there are a total of 40 medical schools nationwide.

16 Questionnaire

17 A self-administered questionnaire was developed by tobacco treatment specialists and

18 supervised by a medical education expert. The 23 questions of the questionnaire were divided

19 into the following six parts; 1) questions 1–4: demographics such as sex, age, medical school,

20 and grade; 2) questions 5–10: details of personal history such as smoking status, age at

21 smoking initiation, types of tobacco used, smoking duration and intensity, duration of

22 smoking cessation, and intention to quit smoking; 3) question 11: exposure to secondhand

23 smoke (SHS) at school in the past week; 4) questions 12 and 13: the experience of learning in

24 medical schools about tobacco-related medical knowledge and smoking cessation counseling

25 techniques; 5) questions 14–22: tobacco-related medical knowledge such as smoking

Commented [JMS7]: Quote is odd, describe instead.

At the beginning of the online survey, students were informed that participation was voluntary...

Deleted: Written

Commented [JMS8]: Unclear, submit a questionnaire before they commenced the questionnaire?

Deleted: before enrolment.

Commented [JMS9]: this is unclear. How do you rule out personal opinions in a questionnaire?

1 prevalence among adults in Korea, tobacco-related mortality, tobacco-related illnesses, the
2 effect of SHS on stroke, the effect of brief smoking cessation interventions, smoking
3 cessation counseling techniques, nicotine dependence treatment, length of time after quitting
4 when the risk of cardiovascular diseases is reduced or returns to normal, and the benefits of
5 smoking cessation in reducing sudden and premature deaths; and 6) question 23: CSE in
6 smoking cessation ([See Supplemental information](#)).

8 **Definitions of terms used in the present study**

9 Non-smokers were defined as those who had no smoking experience or had smoked less than
10 100 cigarettes in their lifetime. Current smokers who had smoked 100 or more cigarettes in
11 their lifetime were classified as daily smokers if they had smoked any tobacco product at
12 least once a day, occasional smokers if they did not smoke daily, and former smokers if they
13 were currently not smoking (*Hall et al., 2019*). The four medical schools integrated different
14 content during different school years within the curriculum. However, based on its teaching
15 methods, smoking cessation education was classified into lecture-based and blended
16 education. In the former case, smoking cessation education was provided only in the form of
17 lectures, while in the latter, in addition to lectures, one or more interactive teaching methods
18 such as discussions, tobacco-focused standardized patients simulation, or role plays were
19 implemented. CSE in the treatment of smoking cessation was assessed on a 5-point Likert
20 scale, with scores of 4 or higher and 3 or less being interpreted as **high** and **low** self-efficacy,
21 respectively (*Triantafylidis et al., 2019*).

Deleted: positive

Deleted: non-positive

23 **How the tobacco-related knowledge items were scored**

24 The correct answers to smoking prevalence among adults in Korea and tobacco-related
25 mortality were based on statistics published by the Korean Centers for Disease Control

Commented [JMS10]: Scoring of...

Deleted: How to score tobacco-related medical knowledge

1 released closest to the time of the study. For questions smoking prevalence among adults in
2 Korea, tobacco-related mortality, and length of time after quitting when the risk of
3 cardiovascular diseases is reduced or returns to normal which required numerical value
4 answers, if the answer was within 10% of the reference value it was considered as correct.
5 For the nine questions (14–22) on medical knowledge related to smoking, six questions with
6 one correct answer were given 2 points each, while the remaining three questions (tobacco-
7 related illnesses, smoking cessation counseling techniques, and nicotine dependence
8 treatment) with multiple correct answers were given 1 point for each correct answer.
9 Question 19 (smoking cessation counseling techniques) included the order of correct answers
10 in the scoring standard. Questions 18 (the effect of brief smoking cessation interventions), 19
11 (smoking cessation counseling techniques), and 22 (the benefits of smoking cessation in
12 reducing sudden and premature deaths) were answered using a 5-point Likert scale and a
13 score of 4 or more was considered correct. The total score was 23 points.

14

15 Statistical analysis

16 We used the calculator provided from Raosoft® to determine the sample size representing the
17 study population. The calculated sample size was 303, assuming a response distribution of
18 50:50 on the survey (population size 1,416), with 5% margin of error and 95% confidence
19 level. Data were presented as the mean ± standard deviation, median (range), or frequency
20 (percent). Normality of continuous variables was assessed by the Shapiro-Wilk test.
21 Comparison between groups was done with the two-sample t-test or Mann-Whitney U test,
22 while the chi-squared test or Fisher's exact test were used as appropriate for continuous and
23 categorical variables, respectively. Multivariable logistic regression with a backward
24 stepwise procedure was applied to select significant independent predictors of high self-

Commented [JMS11]: Sample size was calculated using

Deleted: positive

1 efficacy. P values of < .05 were deemed statistically significant. All analyses were performed
2 using IBM SPSS statistics software program version 22.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY).

4 **Ethical consideration**

5 The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Pusan National University
6 Yangsan Hospital (IRB No. 05-2016-105) and was performed in accordance with the
7 principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. All subjects gave their informed consent before they
8 participated in the study.

10 **RESULTS**

11 **Tobacco control curricular content**

12 The curriculum for smoking cessation education at the four medical schools - A, B, C, and D
13 are presented in table 1. Smoking cessation education was offered by A and C schools only in
14 the form of lectures; B school provided lectures and role plays for 2 hours in 3rd year, and
15 only lectures for 2 hours in 4th year. School D provided lectures for one hour in 1st year, and
16 for the next 4 hours, allowed the students to practice smoking cessation counseling skills with
17 standardized patients.

Deleted: Smoking cessation education was provided by four medical schools – A, B, C, and D for: 1 hour in 2nd year, 2 hours each in 3rd year and 4th year, 1 hour in 2nd year and 3 hours in 3rd year, and 5 hours in 1st year, respectively (Table 1).

19 **Response rate and demographic characteristics**

20 Of the 1,416 eligible students from the four medical schools, 313 students (22.1%) completed
21 the online survey. No students partially responded to the survey. The response rate of each
22 school varied from 16.0% to 29.9% (Table 1). However, there were no difference the basic
23 characteristics of age, gender distribution, and year of school (curricular phase) et al. between
24 the respondent group (N=313) and the population (N=1,416). The students' average age was
25 25.1 ± 2.8 years (range: 20–36 years), and the proportion of females was 34.5%. In 1st, 2nd,

Deleted: Thus, A and C schools were classified as lecture-based learning groups, and B and D schools as blended learning groups. The departments of respiratory medicine and family medicine were in charge of tobacco control education in A and D schools and B and C schools, respectively....

Commented [JMS12]: Survey is designed so no partial answers are possible?

Deleted: No questionnaire was excluded from the analysis.

Deleted: is

Commented [JMS13]: ?? and other characteristics like...

1 3rd, 4th year, the number of participants were 117 (37.4%), 55 (17.6%), 72 (23.0%), and 69
2 (22.0%), respectively. When divided according to the method of education, those in the
3 lecture-based learning group were older ($p < 0.001$), and when divided as pre-clerkship and
4 clerkship phases, the rate of implementing smoking cessation education in the pre-clerkship
5 phase was high ($p = 0.004$), as shown in Table 2.

6

7 **Smoking status and exposure to SHS**

8 As shown in Table 2, 19.8% of the students were smokers, and only two (3.2%) were
9 females. Among the smokers, 83.3% had smoked their first cigarette before entering medical
10 school, 80% had used cigarettes, and nine of them had additional experience of using
11 electronic cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, or rolling tobacco. Eighteen students were former
12 smokers, and the remaining ($n = 44$) were current smokers (5 were occasional smokers and
13 39 were daily smokers). Of the current smokers, five smoked more than 20 cigarettes a day.
14 Around 75% of the current smokers revealed that they had tried to quit smoking in the past.
15 As regards quitting smoking, six reported that they were ready to try to quit within the next
16 month, and ten within the next 6 months. Around 84.3% students reported experiencing SHS
17 in the school premises during the past week.

18

19 **Education experience of tobacco**

20 While 96.2% students reported having learned about tobacco-related knowledge through their
21 curriculum, 73.2% answered that they had received a formal training in smoking cessation
22 counseling techniques that could be applied to patients, with significant differences between
23 groups classified according to the teaching methods (67% of lecture-based learning vs. 84.1%
24 of blended learning, $p = 0.001$, Table 2).

25

1 Tobacco-related medical knowledge

2 Table 2 shows the students' correct answer rate for the nine questions on tobacco-related
3 medical knowledge according to the teaching methods. The number of correct answers for the
4 effect of brief smoking cessation interventions, smoking cessation counseling techniques,
5 nicotine dependence treatment, the benefits of smoking cessation in reducing sudden and
6 premature deaths and the whole were statistically significant according to the teaching
7 method ($p < 0.001$, < 0.001 , < 0.001 , $= 0.008$, and < 0.001 , respectively). Only 14.7% of all
8 students were aware and had accurate information on the smoking rate of Korean adults,
9 whereas 64.5% had overestimated the smoking prevalence. In contrast, students who
10 underestimated tobacco-related mortality and the length of time when the risk of
11 cardiovascular diseases is reduced or returns to normal after quitting were 37.1% and 52.1%,
12 respectively. In the question about smoking cessation counseling skills, 11.5% students
13 received partial scores due to incomplete answers or mistakes in the order of writing answers,
14 and 82.1% wrote completely incorrect answers or none. On questions relating to medication
15 and nicotine dependence, 42.8% students received partial scores. Table 3 shows tobacco-
16 related medical knowledge scores according to teaching methods based on students' sex
17 (male, female), grades (pre-clerkship phase, clerkship phase), smoking status (smoker, non-
18 smoker), exposure to SHS, learning of tobacco-related medical knowledge, learning of
19 smoking cessation counseling techniques, and self-efficacy (high, low). Overall, as compared
20 to the lecture-based learning group, the blended learning group's tobacco-related medical
21 knowledge scores were higher in the following: male and female students, those in the pre-
22 clerkship and clerkship phases, those who had experienced SHS exposure, those who
23 perceived having learnt tobacco-related medical knowledge and smoking cessation
24 counseling techniques, and those having high and low self-efficacy. When converted to 100

Deleted: 3

Deleted: When converted to 100 points, 39 students (12.5%) scored 60 or higher, and 14 of whom were fourth graders (Table 5).

Deleted: 4

Commented [JMS15R14]:

Commented [JMS16R14]:

Commented [JMS17]: Define what is high was is low. Using high/low will make comparisons off. See later comments

Deleted: positive, non-positive

Deleted: positive

Deleted: non-positive

1 points, 39 students (12.5%) scored 60 or higher, and 14 of whom were fourth graders (Table
2 4).

4 CSE in smoking cessation counseling

5 One-fifth (20.4%) of all students reported high self-efficacy for smoking cessation
6 counseling, and the proportion of students with high self-efficacy was about 1.9 times higher
7 (29.2%) in the blended learning group as compared to the lecture-based learning group
8 (15.5%, $p = 0.007$, Table 2). Table 4 shows the characteristics of students according to self-
9 efficacy. The percentage of students with high self-efficacy among smokers, those in the
10 blended learning group, and those with tobacco-related medical knowledge scores ≥ 60 was
11 significantly higher than those without ($p = 0.002$, 0.007 , and 0.003 , respectively). The
12 proportion of tobacco-related medical knowledge scores ≥ 60 was only 9.6% among students
13 who had low self-efficacy in smoking cessation counseling, while 23.4% students had a high
14 self-efficacy, which was about 2.4 times the former (Table 4). Compared with low self-
15 efficacy, the odds ratios (95% confidence interval) for those with high self-efficacy in
16 smoking cessation counseling based on age, smoker, blended learning group, and with
17 tobacco-related medical knowledge scores ≥ 60 were 1.1 (0.99–1.23), 2.73 (1.35–5.51), 2.32
18 (1.19–4.54), and 2.85 (1.23–6.63), respectively (Figure 1).

20 DISCUSSION

21 Approximately 40% of Korean adult males and 6% of Korean adult females were found to be
22 smokers in 2016 (Chang et al., 2019). More than 400,000 smokers registered in a smoking
23 cessation support program by the National Health Insurance Service of Korea and received
24 assistance from health care providers in 2017 (Oh, 2019). Although there are many reports
25 that physicians' advice for smoking cessation is effective for smokers in the health care

Commented [JMS18]: Still unclear. high based on what

Deleted: positive

Commented [JMS19]: High self-efficacy that was higher?

Commented [JMS20R19]:

Deleted: positive

Deleted: 3

Deleted: 5

Deleted: positive

Deleted: non-positive

Deleted: positive

Deleted: 5

Deleted: non-positive

Deleted: positive

1 setting, it is not known whether physicians or medical students are sufficiently trained in
2 providing smoking cessation interventions. Therefore, this study examined items including
3 the curricula of smoking cessation education, tobacco-related medical knowledge, and
4 medical students' CSE of smoking cessation treatment in four Korean medical schools.
5 Thereafter, it evaluated whether current smoking cessation education was quantitatively or
6 qualitatively appropriate for students, as well as analyzed factors affecting students' CSE in
7 smoking cessation treatment. In this study, students perceived that smoking prevalence was
8 higher than the actual rate, tobacco-related mortality was lower than the actual rate, and
9 smoking had less impact of smoking on cardiovascular disease than in reality. This
10 overestimation of smoking prevalence and underestimation of health hazards were consistent
11 with those observed in studies conducted by medical students in Italy (*Grassi et al., 2012*). It
12 showed that students are not fully aware that smoking is a major global cause of disease and
13 death.

14 We found that the knowledge about smoking cessation counseling techniques score
15 (6.4%) was much lower than that of smoking cessation pharmacotherapy (22.7%) or tobacco-
16 related illness (56.5%), as shown in Table 2. In addition, more than a quarter of the students
17 said they did not remember having regular education in smoking cessation counseling at
18 school. The lack of knowledge about practical counseling rather than knowledge of the
19 disease was similar to the results of a survey conducted in the UK (*Raupach et al., 2015*).
20 When physicians talked about smoking cessation to patients, focusing on the risk of smoking
21 made the patients aware, but if the physicians were unable to advise the patients properly on
22 how to quit smoking and guide them to stay as non-smokers, it would be difficult to say that
23 the cessation treatment was truly a success (*Raupach et al., 2015*). From the results of this
24 study, it seemed that students were not properly trained in the counseling skills most
25 necessary in clinical settings. The effectiveness of traditional lecture-based education has

Deleted: 64.5% of students perceived smoking prevalence among adults in Korea as higher than the actual rate, and 37.1% of students perceived that tobacco-related mortality was lower than the actual rate. Students also reported that smoking had less impact on cardiovascular disease than in reality, with 52.1% responding that after quitting the risk of cardiovascular disease reduces to normal sooner than it actually did...

Deleted: 3

1 been questioned for a long time, and many studies have found that alternative education, such
2 as role-playing and standardized patient simulation, have been successful in improving
3 attitudes toward tobacco use and smoking cessation counseling skills (*Ockene et al., 2014;*
4 *Park, Park, & Hwang, 2019*). In this study, students' scores on partial or total tobacco-related
5 medical knowledge showed significant differences according to the teaching method, and the
6 differences were consistently observed regardless of sex, grade, and smoking status. Half of
7 the medical schools included in this study only conducted lecture-type education. In the
8 present study, only one-fifth (20.4%) of the students reported high self-efficacy for smoking
9 cessation counseling due to education received from the medical school. In relation to
10 education methods, about one-third of the students reported high self-efficacy in the blended
11 learning group (15.3% in the lecture-based learning group), which was similar to the results
12 of surveys conducted in Korea, Europe and Canada (*Richmond et al., 2009; Kim, Issenberg, &*
13 *Roh, 2020; Bender et al., 2021*). In contrast to the results of this study, even in a group that
14 received classic lecture-based education in a randomized comparative study conducted in the
15 United States (*Caplan, Stout, & Blumenthal, 2011*), nearly half of the students showed high
16 self-efficacy in smoking cessation counseling techniques and more than half in counseling of
17 nicotine replacement therapy (Ockene et al., 2016). Asian students, including Korea, tend to
18 underestimate self-efficacy beliefs compared to Western culture students due to the influence
19 of East Asian cultures due to the pressure of success, fear of failure, and modesty etiquette
20 (*Putman, Wang, & Ki, 2015*). A previous comparative study on nutrition information also
21 revealed differences in knowledge self-efficacy among college students between Korea and
22 the US (*Kim et al., 2020*). While this might partly explain why students who showed high
23 self-efficacy in this study was lower than expected, previous studies have analyzed that even
24 though many more effective teaching methods have been developed (*Gibson et al., 2010*),
25 these have either not been utilized or education focused on the risks of smoking or simple

Deleted: Richmond, 1999;

Deleted: positive

Deleted: positive

Deleted: Richmond, 1998; Card, Snell, & O'Brien, 2006

Deleted: positive

Commented [JMS21]: Due to due to twice. rewrite

Commented [JMS22]: And what were those differences?
This sentence says nothing

Deleted: positive

1 medication rather than on practical skills (Raupach et al., 2015). In addition, it can be
2 assumed to have been caused by a difference in the expression of questions in the
3 questionnaire or the cultural difference in self-expression. However, even within Korean
4 culture, there are some differences between self-efficacy depending on the subject of study
5 and circumstances (Jun, 2016; Lee & Young, 2018). In the present study, the average score of
6 self-efficacy for smoking cessation counseling was 2.7, which was higher than the self-
7 efficacy of physical activity (average score of 1.5) in Korean health college students (Lee &
8 Young, 2018), and was lower than general self-efficacy (average score of 3.2) in Korean
9 nursing college students (Jun, 2016).

Commented [JMS23]: Sentence too long, confusing, rewrite. Perhaps use "we hypothesize" after the first comma and use Gibson and Raupach as separate sentence to back hypothesis.

10 In this study, a score of 60 or more on tobacco-related medical knowledge was
11 correlated the most with high self-efficacy for smoking cessation counseling. There is
12 controversy over the connection between CSE and training (Mehr, Ladany, & Caskie, 2015;
13 Mullen et al., 2015; Morrison, Lent, 2018), but this study confirmed that the teaching method
14 may be also one of the ways to promote self-efficacy for smoking cessation counseling.

Commented [JMS24]: But? It was

Commented [JMS25]: What is general self-efficacy

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Strikethrough

Deleted: positive

Commented [JMS26]: What is the controversy

Commented [JMS27]: Provided additional support? It is odd to say "confirmed" while using a weak link like "may be"

Deleted: was

15 Previous studies have shown that role-playing and modeling with visual images have been
16 particularly helpful in improving CSE (Campbell et al., 2015; Botelho, Gao, & Jagannathan,
17 2019]. In our study, those with smoking experience tended to be more confident in smoking
18 cessation counseling, as opposed to previous findings in which physicians who smoked
19 thought that their smoking cessation recommendations would not help the patient (Huang et
20 al., 2013; Reile & Parna, 2018). It is presumed that since the students in this study were
21 relatively poorly trained in smoking cessation counseling skills at school, based on their
22 experiences, smokers felt more confident in smoking cessation treatment. Medical schools A,
23 B, C, and D reported having devoted 1, 4, 4, and 5 hours, respectively, to smoking-related
24 education. Except for school A, whose education hours were short, the remaining three
25 schools' education hours were comparable to those reported in a national survey of 22

Deleted: Brotans et al., 2005

1 medical schools in the UK (*Raupach et al., 2015*). Through the Korea Association of Medical
2 Colleges, Korean medical schools set the same learning goals for smoking harm and
3 cessation education. However, in view of the students' overall levels of tobacco-related
4 medical knowledge and self-efficacy for smoking cessation counseling being low, there is a
5 need to reconsider the qualitative part of education, that is, its content and delivery methods.

6 In our study, the current smoking rate of medical students was 14.1% (~~male 19.8%,~~
7 ~~female 3.2%~~), which was lower compared to Korea's ~~present adult male smoking rate~~, but it
8 ~~was similar to the Korea's present adult female smoking rate~~ (*Kim and Choe, 2019*). ~~By~~
9 ~~gender, approximately 40% of Korean adult males and 3% of Korean adult females were~~
10 ~~found to be smokers in 2016~~ (*Chang et al., 2019*). This can be interpreted as a decrease in the
11 smoking rate of physicians leading to a decrease in the smoking rate of the public, as
12 observed in most developed countries such as the US, Australia, and the UK (*Cattaruzza and*
13 *West, 2013*). While most ~~of the~~ students smoked cigarettes, it is noteworthy that the types of
14 cigarettes had diversified into electronic, smokeless, water, and hand-rolled cigarettes. In the
15 absence of research focusing on the types of cigarettes used by Korean medical students,
16 direct comparison was not possible. ~~However, these medical students' smoking behaviors~~
17 ~~were considered in the same context as the misconceptions of new cigarettes being safer, and~~
18 ~~the variety of cigarettes used by smokers due to the change in the Korean anti-smoking~~
19 ~~policy, which made it possible to target niche markets for new cigarettes, as well as easier to~~
20 ~~purchase products through the internet~~ (*Kim and Lee, 2017*).

21 22 CONCLUSION

23 To summarize, we found that the blended learning method could lead to an increase in
24 tobacco-related medical knowledge and CSE in smoking cessation. It is expected that with
25 the implementation of the smoking cessation education curriculum in medical schools,

Commented [JMS28]: Which is, add in ()

Commented [JMS29]: Which is, add in ()

Formatted: Strikethrough

Deleted: lower than the rate of 21.9% reported by Park et al. in 2004 (*Park et al., 2004*).

Deleted: It was also low compared to Korea's present adult smoking rate (*Kim and Choe, 2019*).

Formatted: Strikethrough

Formatted: Strikethrough

Commented [JMS30]: This sentence needs complete re-write as the meaning became unclear with s many added clarifications in between. Citation is also unclear. What were Kim and Lee's findings? Related to purchase, anti-smoking policy, niche market of new cigarettes or all the above?

1 interactive counseling techniques such as role-playing and standardized patient simulation,
2 which are different from classical lecture-based education, will be introduced. This addition
3 of more practical education to blended learning will increase students' CSE for smoking
4 cessation, and consequently, lead to high-quality smoking cessation treatment and reduction
5 of smoking rates. However, the fact that only 20% of total students had high CSE for
6 cessation counseling suggests that the Korean medical schools should convene to figure out
7 what content needs to be taught and where to place it in the curriculum, although the high
8 CSE rate was higher in the blended learning group. Therefore, it is necessary to be re-
9 confirmed as a more well-designed randomized controlled study that reflects underlying
10 factors that could also contribute to the changes in self-efficacy and knowledge. Additionally,
11 based on this study, further research is also-needed to develop educational methods that can
12 improve CES or to verify the effectiveness of blended learning in various subjects of medical
13 education.

Deleted: positive

Deleted: positive

Formatted: Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red, (Asian) Korean

15 **Strength of the study**

16 The present study focused on the overall areas necessary to assess whether Korean medical
17 students were receiving appropriate smoking cessation education based on their curriculum,
18 smoking status, experience of learning about tobacco in medical schools, tobacco-related
19 medical knowledge, and CSE in smoking cessation. As a risk factor for bacterial and viral
20 respiratory infections such as COVID-19 and MERD-CoV (*Vardavas and Nikitara, 2020*),
21 the need for quitting smoking is increasingly emphasized, and smoking cessation education in
22 medical schools has become a more important topic.

24 **Limitations of the study**

1 First, it was conducted in just four medical schools in Korea, the total response rate was not
2 high, and the response rates for each grade were slightly different. The proportion of female
3 students in this study is 34.5%, which is also similar to the proportion of female students
4 (36.0%) in all Korean medical schools (Shin & Lee, 2020). A previous systematic review has
5 shown that the response rate of online surveys was approximately 10% less than that of paper
6 surveys (Fan & Yan, 2010). In addition, since this study was conducted with full voluntary
7 participation of students, schools did not encourage or urge students to actively participate in
8 the survey, which may be the reason for the rather low online reply rate. However, since the
9 data that we analyzed was included in the 95% confidence interval with an error range of 5%,
10 it seems that it was not insufficient to give statistical significance. Second, for this study we
11 did not use a widely used questionnaire but specifically developed one based on our
12 discussions and logical arguments. Since this study was not an attempt to objectively
13 compare specific scores, the questionnaire also contained questions about the risks of
14 smoking or smoking cessation counseling and its results were similar to previous studies on
15 tobacco-related medical knowledge. We feel that the questions did not lower the quality of
16 the study. Third, since this study was not designed as a randomized control study, there may
17 be concerns about other confounding factors that undermine ability to interpret the data. For
18 example, the grades in which the students were given smoking cessation education may have
19 affected their knowledge scores, but comparisons were not possible since the schools'
20 curricula differed.

Deleted: each school

Commented [JMS31]: May explain the low response rate

Formatted: Strikethrough

21

22 **ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AND DECLARATIONS**

23 **Funding**

24 The authors received no funding for this work.

25

1 **Competing Interest**

2 The authors declare there are no competing interest.

4 **Author Contributions**

5 A Ra Cho conceived and designed the research, performed the research, analyzed the data,
6 prepared figures and/or tables, and approved the final draft.

7 Jeong Gyu Lee analyzed the data, prepared figures and/or tables, and approved the final draft.

8 Yun Jin Kim analyzed the data, prepared figures and/or tables, and approved the final draft.

9 Byung Mann Cho analyzed the data, prepared figures and/or tables, and approved the final
10 draft.

11 Sang Yeoup Lee conceived and designed the research, performed the research, analyzed the
12 data, prepared figures and/or tables, authored or reviewed drafts of the paper, and approved
13 the final draft.

14 Eunhee Kong performed the research, prepared figures and/or tables, and approved the final
15 draft.

16 Min Jeong Kim performed the research, prepared figures and/or tables, and approved the
17 final draft.

18 Jinseung Kim performed the research, prepared figures and/or tables, and approved the final
19 draft.

20 Dong Sik Jung performed the research, prepared figures and/or tables, and approved the final
21 draft.

22 Seong-Ho Han performed the research, prepared figures and/or tables, and approved the final
23 draft.

25 **Human Ethics**

1 The following information was supplied relating to ethical approvals (i.e., approving body
2 and any reference numbers):
3 The Institutional Review Board of Pusan National University Yangsan Hospital approved this
4 research (IRB No. 05-2016-105).

5
6 **Data Availability**

7 The following information was supplied regarding data availability:
8 Raw data are available in Data S1.

9
10 **Supplemental Information**

11 None
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

REFERENCES

- Bender JL, Flora PK, Milosevic E, Soheilipour S, Maharaj N, Dirlea M, Parvin L, Matthew A, Kazanjian A. 2021.** Training prostate cancer survivors and caregivers to be peer navigators: a blended online/in-person competency-based training program. *Supportive Care in Cancer* 29:1235-1244.
- Botelho MG, Gao X, Jagannathan N. 2019.** A qualitative analysis of students' perceptions of videos to support learning in a psychomotor skills course. *European Journal of Dental Education* 23:20-27.
- Campbell AJ, Amon KL, Nguyen M, Cumming S, Selby H, Lincoln M, Neville V, Bhullar N, Magor-Blatch L, Oxman L, Green T, George A, Gonczi A. 2015.** Virtual world interview skills training for students studying health professions. *Journal of Technology in Human Services* 33:156-171.
- Caplan L, Stout C, Blumenthal DS. 2011.** Training physicians to do office-based smoking cessation increases adherence to PHS guidelines. *Journal of Community Health* 36:238-243.
- Cattaruzza MS, West R. 2013.** Why do doctors and medical students smoke when they must know how harmful it is? *European Journal of Public Health* 23:188-189.
- Champassak SL, Catley D, Finocchiaro-Kessler S, Farris M, Ehtesham M, Schoor R, Goggin K. 2014.** Physician smoking cessation counseling and adherence to a clinical practice guideline. *The European Journal for Person Centered Healthcare* 2:477-484.
- Chang Y, Kang HY, Lim D, Cho HJ, Khang YH. 2019.** Long-term trends in smoking prevalence and its socioeconomic inequalities in Korea, 1992-2016. *International Journal for Equity in Health* 18:148.
- Fan W, Yan Z. 2020.** Factors affecting response rates of the web survey: a systematic review. *Computers in Human Behavior* 26:132-139.

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: Brotons C, Bjorkelund C, Bulc M, Ciurana R, Godycki-Cwirko M, Jurgova E, Kloppe P, Lionis C, Mierzecki A, Piñeiro R, Pullerits L, Sammut MR, Sheehan M, Tataradze R, Thireos EA, Vuchak J; EUROPREV network. 2005. Prevention and health promotion in clinical practice: the views of general practitioners in Europe. *Preventive Medicine* 40:595-601.¶

Deleted: Card SE, Snell L, O'Brien B. 2006. Are Canadian General Internal Medicine training program graduates well prepared for their future careers? *BMC Medical Education* 6:56.¶

1 **Fiore MC, Baker TB. 2011.** Clinical practice. Treating smokers in the health care setting.
2 *New England Journal of Medicine* 365:1222-1231.

Deleted: ¶

3 **GBD 2015 Risk Factors Collaborators. 2016.** Global, regional, and national comparative
4 risk assessment of 79 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or
5 clusters of risks, 1990-2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study
6 2015. *Lancet*. 388:1659-1724.

7 **Grassi MC, Chiamulera C, Baraldo M, Culasso F, Ferketich AK, Raupach T, Patrono**
8 **C, Nencini P. 2012.** Cigarette smoking knowledge and perceptions among students in four
9 Italian medical schools. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 14:1065-1072.

Deleted: Gibson JE, Murray RL, Borland R, Cummings KM, Fong GT, Hammond D, McNeill A. 2010. The impact of the United Kingdom's national smoking cessation strategy on quit attempts and use of cessation services: findings from the International Tobacco Control Four Country Survey. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 12 suppl:S64-71.¶

10 **Hall MG, Byron JM, Brewer NT, Noar SM, Ribisl KM. 2019.** Interest in illicit purchase
11 of cigarettes under a very low nicotine content product standard. *Nicotine & Tobacco*
12 *Research* 21(Suppl 1):S128-S132.

13 **Herold R, Schiekirka S, Brown J, Bobak A, McEwen A, Raupach T. 2016.** Structured
14 smoking cessation training for medical students: a prospective study. *Nicotine & Tobacco*
15 *Research* 18:2209-2215.

16 **Huang C, Guo C, Yu S, Feng Y, Song J, Eriksen M, Redmon P, Koplan J. 2013.**
17 Smoking behaviours and cessation services among male physicians in China: evidence from a
18 structural equation model. *Tobacco Control* 22(suppl 2):ii27-33.

19 **Jun WH. 2016.** Anger expression, self-efficacy and interpersonal competency of Korean
20 nursing students. *International Nursing Review* 63:539-546.

21 **Kim CS, Bosselman R, Choi HM, Lee KS, Kim E, Moon H, Jang YJ, Ham S. 2020.**
22 Comparison of college students' behavior toward nutrition information communication
23 between Korea and the US. *Nutrition Research and Practice* 14:401-411.

Formatted: Font color: Red

24 **Kim J, Lee S. 2017.** Using focus group interviews to analyze the behavior of users of new
25 types of tobacco products. *Journal of Preventive Medicine and Public Health* 50:336-346.

1 **Kim SH, Issenberg B, Roh YS. 2020.** The Effects of simulation-based advanced life support
2 education for nursing students. *Computers, Informatics, Nursing: CIN* 38:240-245.

3 **Kim SK, Choe JY. 2019.** Association between smoking and serum uric acid in Korean
4 population: Data from the seventh Korea national health and nutrition examination survey
5 2016. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 98:e14507.

6 **Lee D, Young SJ. (2018).** Investigating the effects of behavioral change, social support, and
7 self-efficacy in physical activity in a collectivistic culture: Application of Stages of
8 Motivational Readiness for Change in Korean young adults. *Preventive Medicine Reports*
9 10:204-209.

10 **Loranger M, Simms K, Pipe A. 2018.** Smoking cessation counselling training in the pre-
11 clerkship curriculum of Canadian medical schools: A national survey. *Canadian Medical*
12 *Education Journal* 9:e5-e10.

13 **Mehr KE, Ladany N, Caskie GIL. 2015.** Factors influencing trainee willingness to disclose
14 in supervision. *Training and Education in Professional Psychology* 9:44-51.

15 **Morrison MA, Lent RW. 2018.** The working alliance, beliefs about the supervisor, and
16 counseling self-efficacy: Applying the relational efficacy model to counselor supervision.
17 *Journal of Counseling Psychology* 65:512-522.

18 **Mullen PR, Uwamahoro O, Blount AW, Lambie GW. 2015.** Development of counseling
19 students' self-efficacy during their preparation program. *The Professional Counselor* 5:175-
20 184.

21 **Ockene JK, Hayes RB, Churchill LC, Crawford SL, Jolicoeur DG, Murray DM,**
22 **Shoben AB, David SP, Ferguson KJ, Huggett KN, Adams M, Okuliar CA, Gross RL,**
23 **Bass PF 3rd, Greenberg RB, Leone FT, Okuyemi KS, Rudy DW, Waugh JB, Geller AC.**
24 **2016.** Teaching medical students to help patients quit smoking: outcomes of a 10-school
25 randomized controlled trial. *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 31:172-181.

1 **Oh SW. 2019.** The Current Status and Challenges of National Smoking Cessation Support
2 Program in Korea. *Korean Journal of Family Medicine* 40:351-352.

3 **Park KY, Park HK, Hwang HS. 2019.** Group randomized trial of teaching tobacco-
4 cessation counseling to senior medical students: a peer role-play module versus a
5 standardized patient module. *BMC medical education* 19:231.

6 **Putman SM, Wang C, Ki S. 2015.** Assessing the validity of the cross-cultural survey of
7 online reading attitudes and behaviors with American and South Korean fifth- and sixth-
8 Grade students. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment* 33:403-418.

9 **Raupach T, Al-Harbi G, McNeill A, Bobak A, McEwen A. 2015.** Smoking cessation
10 education and training in U.K. medical schools: a national survey. *Nicotine & Tobacco*
11 *Research* 17:372-375.

12 **Reile R, Parna K. 2018.** Do physicians address their patients' smoking behavior? Results
13 from a nationwide survey among physicians in Estonia. *Public Health* 161:1-4.
14 non-smoker among medical students.

15 **Richmond R, Zwar N, Taylor R, Hunnisett J, Hyslop F. 2009.** Teaching about tobacco in
16 medical schools: a worldwide study. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* 28:484-497.

17 **Schiele BE, Weist MD, Youngstrom EA, Stephan SH, Lever NA. 2014.** Counseling self-
18 efficacy, quality of services and knowledge of evidence-based practices in school mental
19 health. *The Professional Counselor* 4:467-480.

20 **Stead LF, Buitrago D, Preciado N, Sanchez G, Hartmann-Boyce J, Lancaster T. 2013.**
21 Physician advice for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*
22 (5):CD000165.

23 **Stolz D, Langewitz W, Meyer A, Pierer K, Tschudi P, S'ng CT, Strobel W, Perruchoud**
24 **AP, Fagerström K, Tamm M. 2012.** Enhanced didactic methods of smoking cessation
25 training for medical students-a randomized study. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 14:224-228.

Deleted: Park SW, Park JH, Lee SW, Lim HS, Lee JT, Kang YS. 2004. Smoking behaviors and its relationships with other health behaviors among medical students. *Journal of Preventive Medicine and Public Health* 37:238-245. ¶

Deleted: Richmond R. 1999. Teaching medical students about tobacco. *Thorax* 54:70-78. ¶
Richmond RL, Debono DS, Larcos D, Kehoe L. 1998. Worldwide survey of education on tobacco in medical schools. *Tobacco Control* 7:247-252. ¶

Deleted: D

1 **Strobel L, Schneider NK, Krampe H, Beißbarth T, Pukrop T, Anders S, West R,**
2 **Aveyard P, Raupach T. 2012.** German medical students lack knowledge of how to treat
3 smoking and problem drinking. *Addiction* 107:1878-1882.
4 **Triantafylidis LK, Phillips SC, Hawley CE, Schwartz AW. 2019.** Finding the Sweet Spot:
5 An Interactive Workshop on Diabetes Management in Older Adults. *MedEdPORTAL*
6 15:10845.
7 **Vardavas CI, Nikitara K. 2020.** COVID-19 and smoking: A systematic review of the
8 evidence. *Tobacco Induced Diseases* 18:20.
9 **Victor JC, Brewster JM, Ferrence R, Ashley MJ, Cohen JE, Selby P. 2010.** Tobacco-
10 related medical education and physician interventions with parents who smoke: Survey of
11 Canadian family physicians and pediatricians. *Canadian Family Physician* 56:157-163.
12 **Warren CW, Sinha DN, Lee J, Lea V, Jones NR. 2011.** Tobacco use, exposure to
13 secondhand smoke, and cessation counseling among medical students: cross-country data
14 from the Global Health Professions Student Survey (GHPSS), 2005-2008. *BMC Public*
15 *Health* 11:72.
16 **Zwar NA, Mendelsohn CP, Richmond RL. 2014.** Supporting smoking cessation. *BMJ*
17 348:f7535.

Deleted: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. 2009. Counseling and interventions to prevent tobacco use and tobacco-caused disease in adults and pregnant women: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force reaffirmation recommendation statement. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 150:551-555.¶

1 **Figure 1**
2 Logistic regression plot of odds ratios and 95% CIs. Note: Predictive factors for high CSE in
3 smoking cessation counseling. a Scores of ≥ 60 on tobacco-related medical knowledge
4 (TRMK).

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: positive

Deleted: ~~~~~Section Break (Next Page)~~~~~